

# WRC Holdings Group Statement of Intent

(Covering the years to 30 June 2012, 2013 and 2014)

# **Contents**

1.	Scope of Statement of Intent (SOI)	1
2.	Reasons for the WRC Holdings Group	1
3.	Objectives and Activities of the Group	1
4.	Environmental and Social performance targets	3
5.	Governance of the Group	7
6.	Financial Information	8
7.	Issues facing the Group	22
8.	Distribution of profits to shareholders	24
9.	Information to be Reported	24
10.	Procedures for the Purchase and Acquisition of Shares	25
11.	Compensation	25
12.	Value of Shareholder's Investment	25

# 1. Scope of Statement of Intent (SOI)

This SOI relates to WRC Holdings Limited and its subsidiary companies Pringle House Limited (PHL), Port Investments Limited (PIL), CentrePort Ltd (CentrePort) and Greater Wellington Rail Ltd (GWRL), Greater Wellington Transport Limited (GWTL), Greater Wellington Infrastructure Limited (GWIL) together they make up WRC Holdings Group (the Group).

WRC Holdings is 100% owned by Greater Wellington Regional Council (Greater Wellington).

WRC Holdings is an entity established under the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA). WRC Holdings and its wholly owned subsidiaries are Council Controlled Trading Organisations (CCTO) as defined under the LGA. CentrePort, a partly owned subsidiary, is not a CCTO as its activities are governed by the Port Companies Act 1988.

# 2. Reasons for the WRC Holdings Group

- To impose commercial discipline on the Group's activities and produce an appropriate return to shareholders and ensuring appropriate debt/equity ratio.
- To separate Greater Wellington's commercial assets from its public good assets.
- To provide a structure to allow external Directors with a commercial background to provide advice and expertise.
- To minimise the risks of owning commercial assets such as rail rolling stock.

# 3. Objectives and Activities of the Group

#### 3.1 Objectives

The primary objectives of the Group shall be to:

- a) Support Greater Wellington's strategic vision, operate successful, sustainable and responsible businesses.
- b) Manage its assets prudently.
- c) Where appropriate, provide a commercial return to shareholders.
- d) Adopt policies that prudently manage risks and protect the investment of its shareholders.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 1 OF 25

#### 3.2 Activities of the Group

- a) WRC Holdings Ltd is the holding company for PHL, PIL, GWRL and indirectly CentrePort.
- b) It owns and operates the Regional Council Centre at 142-146 Wakefield Street, Wellington. The building is owned by PHL who leases it out on commercial terms to Greater Wellington, Vector and Chartis.

The management of the building is undertaken by Greater Wellington's property consultants, Jigsaw Property Ltd.

c) Owns Greater Wellington's investments in rail rolling stock via GWRL.

GWRL currently owns a number of carriages and units.

During 2007/08 a contract was entered into with Rotem Mitsui for the supply of 96 Matangi electric units (EMUs). The units are being delivered in stages that commenced in 2010 and with the last unit expected to be delivered in early 2012.

Greater Wellington is currently in discussions with the Government on the re organisation of the rolling stock which could potentially see Greater Wellington Rail limited owning all the rolling stock the Council uses to deliver rail services via KiwiRail.

At this juncture the details are not finalised consequently the financials in the plan do not currently contemplate this ownership change. The SOI will be updated in the final version before June 2011.

d) Owns 76.9% of CentrePort via PIL.

The major activities of CentrePort are:

- Port infrastructure (land, wharves, buildings, equipment, utilities)
- Shipping and logistical services (pilotage, towage, berthage)
- Operational service (cargo handling, warehousing, facilities management, property management, security, emergency services)
- Integrated logistics solutions (networks, communications, partnerships)
- Property services (development, leasing management)
- Joint ventures (coldstore, container repair, cleaning, packing, unpacking, storage).
- e) Monitor the performance of CentrePort through the board of PIL.
- f) Effectively manage any other investments held by the Group in order to maximise the commercial value to the shareholders and to protect the shareholder's investment.
- g) Act as a diligent constructive and inquiring shareholder.

PAGE 2 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

# 4. Environmental and Social performance targets

#### 4.1 CentrePort

#### 4.1.1 Environment

- a) Develop and maintain a formal environmental management system consistent with the standards specified in AS/NZS ISO 14001: 2004.
- b) Formally review, at least annually, the company's compliance with all environmental legislation, district and regional plans and conditions of resource consents held.
- c) Maintain a sustainability programme with measurable performance criteria covering as a minimum the monitoring of waste and greenhouse gas emissions.
- d) Undertake the monitoring of environmental discharges in accordance with implemented management plans in the areas of:
  - i. Port Noise
  - ii. Storm water discharges to the Coastal Marine Area
  - iii. Fumigants associated with the pest treatment of cargoes
- e) Monitor compliance of the use of Methyl Bromide for the fumigation of log shipments and work collaboratively with the Greater Wellington Regional Council and Crown agencies to investigate alternative fumigation options.
- f) Maintain an environment issues register of environmental complaints and issues for monitoring and actioning purposes. The register to be reported to CentrePort's Health, Safety and Environmental Committee on a regular basis (the committee meets 4 times per annum).
- g) Measure CentrePort's carbon footprint on an average tonnage and ship call basis, benchmark the footprint against similar entities, and develop a plan to reduce that footprint to zero.
- h) CentrePort Ltd will hold a minimum of three Environmental Consultative Committee meetings in 2010/11 comprising CPL and affected stakeholders (customers, port users, local authorities, Iwi and residential groups). The meetings provide a forum to identify and inform on a range of environmental port related matters.

CentrePort will report achievement against these targets as part of our annual report including specific initiatives to enhance the environment in which we operate.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 3 OF 25

#### 4.1.2 Social

- i) Contribute to the desired outcome of the Wellington Regional Strategy through:
  - i. The provision of workplace opportunities and skills enhancements of our employees.
  - ii. Ensuring the regional economy is connected by the provision of high quality port services to support international and coastal trade.
  - iii. Supporting the regional community by investing in community sponsorship
- j) Maintain the tertiary level of compliance with the ACC Workplace Safety Management Practices Programme and comply with the AS/NZS 4801: Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems.
- k) Annual review of Health and Safety Policy.
- 1) Maintain compliance with the International Ship & Port Security (ISPS) Code which promotes security against terrorism within the port environment.
- m) Undertake risk assessments and implement any mitigating procedures relating to the Port & Harbour Safety Code which promotes safety and excellence in marine operations.
- n) To meet regularly with representative community groups.

#### 4.1.3 General

- a) The company will, in consultation with the shareholders, continue to develop performance targets in the financial, environmental and social areas in order to be able to maintain triple bottom line reporting in accordance with best practice.
- b) When developing 'property held for development' the Board is to adhere to the following principles:
  - i. Properties may be developed without the building being fully pre-let so long as tenancy risk is managed prudently.
  - ii. Property developments must not compromise port operations.
  - iii. Developments are to be undertaken only if they are able to be funded without additional capital from shareholders.
- c) Definition of terms (para b). refers):

Management of tenancy risk means that each single property investment has committed rental income (via executed lease contracts) that is sufficient to meet forecast interest costs on (i) the cost of the site development related to the development and (ii) the cost of the construction of the development AND the vacant net lettable area of the proposed development is no greater than 25%.

PAGE 4 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

### 4.2 Group (excluding CentrePort)

#### 4.2.1 Environment

- (a) Operate in an environmentally sustainable manner.
- (b) Minimise the impact of any of the Group's activities on the environment.
- (c) Raise awareness of environmental issues within the Group.

#### 4.2.2 Social

- (a) Provide a safe and healthy workplace.
- (b) Participate in development, cultural and community activities within the regions in which the Group operates.
- (c) To help sustain the economy of the region.

# 4.2.3 WRC Holdings Limited

(a) WRC Holdings to act as a responsible and inquiring shareholder and to hold a meeting at least six times a year to review the operation and financial position of the company.

	WRC Holdings Limited			
	2011/12	2012/13	2013/14	
Dividend distribution \$ 000s	2,257	2,538	2,793	
Dividend distribution %	100%	100%	100%	
Return on equity (1)	5.6%	4.3%	3.5%	
Return on assets (2)	4.9%	4.5%	8.4%	

<sup>(1)</sup> Based on net surplus before tax divided by average equity, but excluding revaluation gains and losses.

### 4.2.4 Port Investments Limited & Parent & Group

- (a) Port Investments to act as a responsible and inquiring shareholder of CentrePort. CentrePort to report at least four times a year to Port Investments limited and for the board to approve significant transactions of CentrePort as determined by the constitution.
- (b) Performance indicators for CentrePort as noted in WRC Holding Group SOI.
- (c) Financial performance indicators.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 5 OF 25

<sup>(2)</sup> Based on earnings before interest and tax divided by average assets

	Port Investments Limited		
	2011/12	2012/13	2013/14
Dividend distribution \$ 000s	2,176	2,454	2,719
Dividend distribution %	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Return on equity (1)	66.1%	71.9%	74.3%
Return on assets (2)	7.5%	7.9%	16.4%

- Based on net surplus before tax divided by average equity, but excluding revaluation gains and losses.
- (2) Based on earnings before interest and tax divided by average assets

### 4.2.5 Pringle House Limited

- (a) Maintains a regular maintenance programme.
- (b) Ensures the Regional Council Centre is insured at competitive rates.
- (c) Ensures the Regional Council Centre meets the requirements of the Building Act.
- (d) Ensure the Regional Council Centre provides a rental at competitive market rates with residual income after expenses paid as a dividend to the shareholder.
- (e) Ensure Pringle House Limited operates in an energy efficient manner.
- (f) Financial performance indicators.

	<b>Pringle House Limited</b>			
	2011/12	2012/13	2013/14	
Dividend distribution \$ 000s	196	201	191	
Dividend distribution %	100%	100%	100%	
Return on equity (1)	14.8%	14.3%	13.8%	
Return on assets (2)	8.5%	8.2%	7.9%	

- (1) Based on net surplus before tax divided by average equity, but excluding revaluation gains and losses.
- (2) Based on earnings before interest and tax divided by average assets

# 4.2.6 Greater Wellington Rail Limited

- (a) Purchase of the Matangi units is in accordance with the contract with Rotem Mitsui.
- (b) Rail assets are maintained in accordance with maintenance schedules.
- (c) Rail assets are insured at competitive rates utilising best practice methodology.
- (d) Financial performance indicators.

PAGE 6 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

	Greater Wellington Rail Limited			
	2011/12	2012/13	2013/14	
Dividend distribution \$ 000s	-	-	-	
Dividend distribution %				
Return on equity (1)	(2.31%)	(2.99%)	(3.89%)	
Return on assets (2)	(0.20%)	(0.27%)	(0.36%)	

<sup>(1)</sup> Based on net surplus before tax divided by average equity, but excluding revaluation gains and losses.

## 4.2.7 Greater Wellington Transport Limited

As this is a dormant company there are no performance objectives applicable other than the preparation of the annual statutory accounts.

This company has an exemption under section 6(4)(i) of the Local Government Act not to produce an SOI. This was granted by Greater Wellington in February 2011 and is up for review before February 2014 in terms of section 7 (6) of the Act.

#### 4.2.8 Greater Wellington Infrastructure Limited

As this is a dormant company there are no performance objectives applicable other than the preparation of the annual statutory accounts.

This company has an exemption under section 6(4)(i) of the Local Government Act not to produce an SOI. This was granted by Greater Wellington in February 2011 and is up for review before February 2014 in terms of section 7 (6) of the Act.

# 5. Governance of the Group

- 5.1 The shareholder, Greater Wellington, appoints the directors to WRC Holdings Ltd in terms of Greater Wellington's approved process. Section 57 of the LGA 2002 requires that directors have the skills, knowledge and experience to:
  - Guide the Group, given the nature and scope of its activities; and to
  - Contribute to the achievement of the objectives of the Group.
  - The shareholder also approves the directors of PHL, PIL and GWRL. These are appointed by WRC Holdings Ltd by way of a special resolution. There is a commonality of directors between WRCHL, PHL, PIL and GWRL.
  - The directors of CentrePort are appointed by PIL and Horizons Regional Council.
- Any changes to the constitutions of the companies within the Group are approved by the shareholder.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 7 OF 25

<sup>(2)</sup> Based on earnings before interest and tax divided by average assets

- Greater Wellington monitors the performance of the Group on a regular basis to evaluate its contribution to the achievement of its objectives, performance against the Group's statement of intent and Greater Wellington's overall aims in accordance with section 65 (1) of the LGA 2002.
- **5.4** The directors monitor the performance of each company at each board meeting.

# 6. Financial Information

# 6.1 Prospective statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 30 June \$000	20011/12 WRCH GROUP	20012/13 WRCH GROUP	20013/14 WRCH GROUP
Prospective statement of comprehensive income			
Grant from GWRC	11,901	18,809	26,657
Rental income	1,910	1,910	1,910
Interest income	96	127	138
Other revenue	74,362	76,890	78,829
Total revenue	88,269	97,736	107,534
Interest expense	15,061	15,286	15,166
Depreciation	14,070	17,981	22,663
Other expenditure	44,673	49,532	54,572
Impairment of Investment		-	
Total expenditure	73,803	82,799	92,400
Surplus/(deficit) before tax	14,466	14,937	15,133
Taxation expense	4,619	4,687	4,651
Total comprehensive income (NPAT)	9,847	10,250	10,482
Total comprehensive applicable to non-controlling interest	2,724	2,883	3,007
Total comprehensive income applicable to parent	7,123	7,367	7,475

PAGE 8 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

# 6.2 Prospective statement of financial position

As at 30 June \$000	20011/12 WRCH GROUP	20012/13 WRCH GROUP	20013/14 WRCH GROUP
Prospective statement of financial position			
Opening equity	195,613	210,652	224,644
Opening equity non controling interests	(48,757)	(50,391)	(52,120)
New equity	8,540	7,435	2,699
Total comprehensive income appliciable to parent	7,123	7,367	7,475
	162,518	175,062	182,698
Dividends distributed	(2,257)	(2,538)	(2,793)
Closing Equity Non-controlling interest	50,391	52,120	53,927
Closing equity	210,652	224,644	233,832
Equity applicable to parent	160,261	172,524	179,905
Non-controlling interest	50,391	52,120	53,927
Closing equity	210,652	224,644	233,832
Current assets	14,554	14,764	15,458
Non current assets	694,472	772,139	794,806
Total assets	709,026	786,903	810,264
Current liabilities	21,811	22,536	23,211
Non currrent liabilities	476,563	539,723	553,221
Total liabilities	498,374	562,259	576,432
Net assets	210,652	224,644	233,832

# 6.3 Prospective statement of changes in equity

As at 30 June \$000	20011/12 WRCH GROUP	<b>20012/13</b> WRCH GROUP	20013/14 WRCH GROUP
Prospective statement of changes in equity			
Opening equity	195,613	210,652	224,644
Shares to be issued during the year	8,540	7,435	2,699
Total comprehensive income for the year	9,847	10,250	10,482
Dividend to be paid - Equity holders	(2,257)	(2,538)	(2,793)
Dividend to be paid - Non controlling Interests	(1,090)	(1,154)	(1,200)
Closing Equity	210,652	224,644	233,832
Total comprehensive income attributed to:			
Equity holders - Parent	7,123	7,367	7,475
Non - controlling interest	2,724	2,883	3,007
	9,847	10,250	10,482

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 9 OF 25

### 6.4 Prospective statement of cash flows

Year ended 30 June \$000	20011/12 WRCH GROUP	20012/13 WRCH GROUP	20013/14 WRCH GROUP
Prospective statement of cashflows			
Cashflows from operations			
Receips from operations	74,455	76,981	78,917
Payments to suppliers/employees	(38,517)	(39,242)	(40,675)
Taxes paid	(4,100)	(4,573)	(4,767)
Interest paid	(14,863)	(15,088)	(14,968)
Net cash from operating activities	16,976	18,078	18,507
Cashflow from investing activities			
Purchase of fixed assets	(13,250)	(18,950)	(18,300)
Net cash from investing activities	(13,250)	(18,950)	(18,300)
Cashflows from financing activities			
Loans	(877)	3,875	2,876
Dividends paid	(1,369)	(1,259)	(1,277)
Issue of shares	8,540	7,435	2,699
Current Acccount movement	(10,019)	(9,179)	(4,505)
Net cash from financing activities	(3,726)	872	(207)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash eqvts	_	-	- -
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the yr	235	235	235
Cash & cash equivalents at year end	235	235	235

# 6.5 Financial commentary

Revenue increases stem mainly from GWRL due to increased grants to cover the rising operating costs from the Matangi Train purchase.

The reduction in finance costs in 2013/14 results from lower interest costs in CentrePort in that year.

The large current account movement in the cash flow refers to the fact that the transactions between the WRC Holdings parent companies are transacted via the current accounts and not via the bank account, consequently they have no cash movements.

PAGE 10 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

## 6.6 Performance targets

	2011/12 (\$000)	2012/13 (\$000)	2013/14 (\$000)
Surplus before tax	14,466	14,937	15,133
Surplus after tax	9,847	10,250	10,482
Earnings before interest, tax and depreciation.	43,471	48,045	52,481
Return on total assets	4.46%	4.04%	3.79%
Return on shareholder equity	4.81%	4.43%	4.24%
Shareholders equity to total assets	22.33%	22.25%	22.07%
Dividends	2,257	2,538	2,793

Definitions of key financial performance targets:

- (a) Consolidated shareholders funds are defined as the amount of paid up capital, plus retained earnings of the Group, less any non controlling interest, utilising the average of the opening & closing balance.
- (b) Total assets are defined as all of the recorded tangible and intangible assets of the Group at their average value, as determined in the Group's statement of accounting policies in the most recent financial statements.
- (c) Return on shareholders equity is calculated using net profit after tax while return on total assets is calculated using earnings before interest and tax.

### 6.7 Statement of Accounting Policies

#### **Statement of Compliance**

The "Group" consists of WRC Holdings Ltd, its wholly owned subsidiaries, Pringle House Ltd, Port Investments Ltd, Greater Wellington Rail Ltd, Greater Wellington Transport Ltd, Greater Wellington Infrastructure Ltd and its 76.9% subsidiary CentrePort Ltd, together with its subsidiaries.

The financial statements are presented in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1993, the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Local Government Act 2002 and New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (NZ GAAP).

The Group financial statements comply with FRS 42 (Financial Reporting Standards No 42 – Prospective Financial Statements).

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 11 OF 25

# **Basis of Preparation**

The prospective financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except for the revaluation of Operational Port Freehold Land, Investment Properties (Developed Investment Properties, Land Available for Development and Assets Held for Sale) and financial instruments as outlined below.

Cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

The going concern concept has been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

These prospective financial statements contain no actual operating results.

The Board is responsible for the prospective statements presented, including the assumptions underlying the prospective financial statements and all other disclosures.

The Group does not intend to update these financial statements during the year. The next planned update of the prospective financial statements is the 2011/14 Statement of Intent.

The Board authorises the issuance of these financial statements on 16 June 2010 and as subsequently amended.

#### **Specific Accounting Policies**

The specific accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements, which materially affect the measurement of the prospective statement of comprehensive income, prospective statement of movements in equity, prospective statement of financial position and prospective cash flows are set out below:

#### **Basis of Consolidation**

The Group financial statements include WRC Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method which involves adding together corresponding assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses on a line by line basis. The associate companies are accounted for on an equity accounting basis, which shows the share of surplus/deficits in the Group's statement of comprehensive income and share of post acquisition increases/decreases in net assets in the Group's balance sheet.

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair value of the identifiable

PAGE 12 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the difference is credited to the statement of comprehensive income in the period of acquisition.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which the company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such subsidiary.

All significant inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

#### **Prospective Statement of Cash Flows**

The following are the definitions used in the statement of cash flows:

- (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
- (b) Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property, Intangible Assets and Joint Ventures. Investments include securities not falling within the definition of cash.
- (c) Financing activities are those activities that result in the changes in size and composition of the capital structure of the Group. This includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to capital structure are included in financing activities.
- (d) Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not investing or financing activities.
- (e) Goods and Services Tax (GST) is accounted for on an accruals basis consistent with the statement of comprehensive income.
- (f) Current Account movements refer to the inter-company transactions of the subsidiary which are not transacted via the bank accounts.

#### Revenue

Revenue shown in the statement of comprehensive income comprises the amounts received and receivable by the Group for services provided to customers in the ordinary course of business based on the stage of completion of the contract at balance sheet date.

Grants for asset purchases are initially recognised in the balance sheet as deferred income and only recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over periods necessary to match them with the related use over the life of the asset.

Other grants and contributions from territorial local authorities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when eligibility has been established by the grantor.

Income is stated exclusive of GST collected from customers.

Interest and dividend income are recognised on an accrual basis.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 13 OF 25

#### **Property, Plant and Equipment**

The Group has six classes of Property, Plant and Equipment

- Freehold land
- Buildings, wharves and paving
- Cranes and floating plant
- Plant, vehicles and equipment
- Rail rolling stock
- Other assets

Operational port freehold land and Pringle House is stated at valuation determined every three years by an independent registered valuer. The basis of valuation is fair value which is determined by reference to the assets highest and best use as determined by an independent valuer.

The fair value of land is recognised in the financial statements of the Group and reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the carrying value of land is not materially different from its fair value. Any revaluation increase of operational port land is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate component of equity in the properties revaluation reserve, except to the extent it reverses a previous revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit and loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation is charged to the profit and loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

The remaining Property, Plant & Equipment acquired by CentrePort on 1 October 1988 are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, based on a business valuation carried out in accordance with the Company plan under Section 21 of the Port Companies Act 1988. Subsequent purchases of remaining Property, Plant & Equipment are recorded at cost. Cost represents the value of the consideration given to acquire the assets and the value of other directly attributable costs that have been incurred in bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for their intended service. All these Property Plant & Equipment are depreciated excluding land.

#### **Investment Properties**

Investment properties, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured at its fair value at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

The Group has three classes of investment properties:

- Developed Investment Properties
- Land Available for Development
- Investment Property Held for Sale.

PAGE 14 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

#### **Leased Assets**

Group entities lease certain land, buildings, wharves and plant. Leases are finance leases wherever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. All leases held by the Group are classified as operating leases.

#### Consolidated entity as lessee:

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### Consolidated entity as lessor:

Operating leases relate to subleases of surplus of properties leased by the company for its own operation use, with lease terms between 1 and 12 years, with an option to extend for a further period between 1 to 6 years. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the Group exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at expiry of the lease period.

#### Lease incentives:

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

#### Assets held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

#### Intangibles

Software is a finite life intangible and is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives between 1 and 5 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.

#### Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 15 OF 25

are independent from other assets, the consolidation entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating using to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount off an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had not impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income immediately, unless the relevant assets is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

#### **Depreciation**

There is no depreciation on capital works in progress and operational port land or investment properties, (developed investment properties, land available for development and assets held for sale). Depreciation on all other property plant and equipment is charged on a straight line basis so as to write off the cost of the assets to their estimated residual value over their expected economic lives. The expected economic lives are as follows:

Buildings, wharves and paving 10 to 50 years

Cranes and floating plant 4 to 20 years

Plant, vehicles and equipment 2 to 20 years

Rail rolling stock 5 to 35 years

Other assets 0 to 20 years

The economic useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.

#### **Borrowing Costs**

Borrowing costs directly attributable to capital construction are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

PAGE 16 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

#### Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are valued annually at the lower of cost and net asset backing. The change in valuation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Investments in associates are stated at the fair market value of the net tangible assets at acquisition plus the share of post-acquisition increases in reserves.

Investment properties are revalued annually to net current value. The change in valuation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. There is not any depreciation on investment properties.

Other investments are stated at the lower of cost and fair value.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposit held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

#### **Inventories**

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Provision has been made for obsolescence where applicable. Apart from fuel stocks, inventories are held for maintenance purposes only.

#### **Income Taxation**

#### Current Tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). Tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends to settle on a net basis.

## Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 17 OF 25

liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint ventures except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

#### Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

#### Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Group is part of the Wellington Regional Council GST Group. All items in the financial statements are exclusive of GST, with the exception of CentrePort's receivables and payables, which are consolidated inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a net basis for GST purposes. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

Where GST is not recoverable as an input tax it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

PAGE 18 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

#### **Employee Entitlements**

A provision for employee entitlements is recognised as a liability in respect of benefits earned by employees but not yet paid at balance date. Employee benefits include salaries, wages, annual leave and long service leave. Where the services that gave rise to the employee benefits are expected to be paid for within twelve months of balance date, the provision is the estimated amount expected to be paid by the Group. The provision for other employee benefits is stated at the present value of the future cash outflows expected to be incurred.

The present value is determined by discounting the future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liabilities.

#### **Provisions**

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

#### **Provision for Dividends**

Dividends are recognised in the period that they are authorised and approved.

#### **Financial Instruments**

As part of normal operations, the Group is party to financial instruments with risk to meet operational needs. These financial instruments include bank overdraft facilities, interest rate swap agreements and forward foreign exchange contracts. Interest rate swap agreements are used within predetermined policies and limits in order to manage interest rate exposure.

#### Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial assets or financial liability

### **Financial liabilities**

#### **Payables**

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services and are subsequently recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 19 OF 25

#### **Borrowings**

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised costs with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

#### **Derivative financial instruments**

The consolidated entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognised at cost on the date a derivative contract is entered into, which is equivalent to fair value, and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. Changes in fair value of derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in statement of comprehensive income.

#### Financial instruments issued by the company

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

#### Dividends

Dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the statement of financial position classification of the related equity instrument.

#### **Foreign Currency Transactions**

Transactions in foreign currency are converted at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. At balance date, foreign monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate and exchange variations arising from these transactions are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

#### **Joint Ventures**

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated in the Group financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with NZ IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

PAGE 20 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

Under the equity method, investments in joint ventures are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the joint venture, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of a joint venture in excess of the Group's interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the joint venture) are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Interests in jointly controlled entities are recognised in the parent company's financial statements using the cost method.

# 6.8 Assumptions in preparing the prospective financial statements

The prospective financial statements information contained in this SOI is based on assumptions that WRC Holding Group reasonable expected to occur at 10 June 2010. Actual results are likely to vary from the information presented and variations could be material.

- No revaluations of property, plant and equipment is projected, as this would not have a material effect on the prospective financial statements.
- The interest rate assumption for the WRC holdings excluding CentrePort Limited is 4.70% for the 2011/12 year and 5.00% and 5.25% for the next two years respectively. However significant interest rate hedging is in place to mitigate against interest rate variability.
- There will be no changes to key legislation affecting the Group activities.
- Asset lives are in accordance with the groups accounting policies.
- The purchase of the Matangi units and subsequent grant and equity contribution from Greater Wellington to pay for these is subject to variation in timing of delivery of them by Rotem Mitsui.
- The repairs to rolling stock, while scheduled in most instances, are subject to variation due to unforeseen events and the delivery schedule of the Matangi units.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 21 OF 25

# 7. Issues facing the Group

#### 7.1 CentrePort Ltd

#### 7.1.1 Economic Environment

The global landscape remains uncertain. There is an emerging view the US recovery is on track (albeit slowly) but Europe Sovereign debt concerns continue. Current weakness in the NZ economy is raising the prospect of a double dip recession in the latter part of 2011. While CentrePort's performance in the first half of 2010/11 has shown signs of resilience to a softening local economy, below budget income in the start of 2011 signals caution.

#### 7.1.2 Port Activities

- Forecast financial performance for the port sector reflects modest growth expectations built on the forecast out-turn for the 2010/11 financial year.
- Notwithstanding a profit uplift for the 2010/11 financial, risks remain to CentrePort from a high \$NZ, current weakness in the NZ economy and shipping line consolidations and/or route reconfigurations.
- The benefits of the strategy are evident in 2012 forecasts as improved port profitability from volume and price increases contribute to an 18% increase in profitability. Key features of forecast port performance in 2012 are discussed under sections 7.1.3 and 7.1.4

#### 7.1.3 Property Portfolio

CentrePort owns and is developing Harbour Quays, a commercial property business park.

CentrePort is currently engaged in a process to restructure CentrePort's balance sheet. This is planned to be achieved through the recycling of capital through the introduction of third party equity via a proposed sell-down of three Harbour Quays buildings. This transaction requires shareholder approval.

The impact of the New Zealand recession on rental income growth has been factored into revenue forecasts and will reduce short term demand for further property development opportunities.

#### 7.1.4 Debt

CentrePort's 2012 debt is forecast to be \$185 million being \$18 million below debt facility levels of \$203 million. This means the company has debt headroom of \$18 million to accommodate any economic shocks and take advantage of investment opportunities. The proposed partial sell-down of three Harbour Quays buildings will improve debt headroom and meet capital structure targets for an indicative "BBB" rating.

PAGE 22 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

## 7.2 Pringle House Limited

The major issues facing Pringle House are:

- Volatility in the valuation of the building directly impacts the financial statements with any valuation change being reported through the Statement of comprehensive income.
- Ongoing maintenance of the Regional Council Centre which is 24 years old this year having been built in 1987.
- The lease to Vector on level 7 is up for renewal in February 2012. Vector has indicated they will require more space and have the option to end their lease at this time. Vector currently occupy 9.5% of the lettable area of the building.

#### 7.3 Greater Wellington Rail Limited

Greater Wellington is in negotiations with the Government and KiwiRail to enter to arrangements whereby GWRL would take ownership of all the rail rolling stock and rail stations (excluding the main Wellington station). Details on how the transfer may occur and the financing arrangements are not yet finalised.

At this juncture it is envisaged that the stations will be transfer at a nominal cost and the main rail rolling stock ie Ganz-Mavag (GM) will be refurbished and transfer to GWRL at the refurbished cost.

The funding of the GM will be via debt raised by Greater Wellington with principal and debt servicing shared by the NZ Transport Agency and Greater Wellington on an indicative ration of 60%/40% respectively.

GWRL would be funded by grant and equity injection in the same ratio as above 60%/40% respectively by Greater Wellington to cover the cost of the refurbishment estimated to be in the vicinity of \$70 million.

For the purpose of this SOI while there is an intention of the Greater Wellington to proceed with the arrangements the details are yet to be finalised. Thus the plan is based on a business as usual in line with prior years.

This draft SOI will be updated in late June when the final version is due to be presented to the Council.

In the meantime the Matangi project will continue.

The major issues for this project are:

- Ensuring the Matangi EMUs are built and arrive in New Zealand as per contractual specifications.
- Ensuring that the budget is not exceeded.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 23 OF 25

#### 7.4 Port Investments Limited

PIL is an investment company for Greater Wellington and holds the shares in CentrePort Ltd. PIL has a \$44,000,000 loan from WRC Holdings which is serviced by dividends from CentrePort.

The dividend from CentrePort finance the \$44,000,000 loan consequently the dividend stream from CentrePort and the interest cost from the loan should, at worst, be the same.

# 8. Distribution of profits to shareholders

The dividend policy for each company will be reviewed by the boards of each company from time to time, after taking account of the wishes of the shareholder, the future circumstances as they may exist and the successful achievements of the commercial objectives of each company.

The expectation in terms of CentrePort is that the dividend will be the maximum practicable amount consistent with CentrePort's intention to increase asset values substantially through the reinvestment of profits. Dividend levels will be reviewed by the Board each year, and agreed with the shareholder. The forecast dividend for the 2011/12 financial year is \$4.725 million.

The Directors of CentrePort have adopted a dividend policy that provides for dividends to be between 40% and 60% of underlying tax paid profit (excluding fair value changes) effective from the 2010/11 financial year. The target dividend payout ratio reflects free cash-flow after providing for capital expenditure plans and the Board's gearing targets.

In terms of the remainder of the WRC Group the expectation is that the dividends paid will be the maximum practical amount. It is expected to be 100% of after tax earnings, excluding unrealised fair value adjustments.

# 9. Information to be Reported

The Group will maintain regular reporting to the shareholders on the implementation of policies in accordance with statutory requirements and in particular will:

- (a) Within three months after the end of each financial year, produce an audited set of financial statements that are consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Directors will also report on:
  - a review of operations
  - a summary of achievements measured against the performance targets
  - the dividend.
- (b) Reporting to the shareholder each quarter.
- (c) Provide further financial information that meets shareholder expectations (format and timetable to be agreed) on a regular basis.

PAGE 24 OF 25 WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1

# 10. Procedures for the Purchase and Acquisition of Shares

- 10.1 The Boards of WRC Holdings, PHL, PIL, GWRL, GWTL, GWIL, will obtain the prior approval of Greater Wellington Regional Council before any of those companies subscribes for, purchases or otherwise acquires shares in any company or other organisation, which is external to the Group. (NB: CentrePort is governed by a separate constitution.)
- **10.2** Section 60 of the Local Government Act 2002 requires that all decisions relating to the operation of the company must be made in accordance with its SOI and its constitution.

# 11. Compensation

- 11.1 The Chair of WRC Holdings will receive annual remuneration of \$19,000. Councillors, who are also directors of WRCHL, PHL, PIL, and GWRL, will receive travelling expenses based on the rates applicable to members of the Council. Directors of those companies, who are not members of the Council, will receive directors' fees as approved by the Council from time to time.
- 11.2 The WRC Group of companies will seek compensation by agreement from Greater Wellington Regional Council for:
  - (a) Rental and tenancy expenses with regard to the occupation of the Regional Council Centre.
  - (b) Interest and financial costs relating to the provision of any intercompany loans, other financing arrangements and current account balances that may accrue.
  - (c) Any other function, duty or power they wish the Group to carry out on their behalf and which involves the supply of goods and services.

#### 12. Value of Shareholder's Investment

- 12.1 The commercial value of the Regional Council Centre will be determined annually by an independent property valuer in accordance with the company's accounting policies, and reported in the statement of financial position.
- **12.2** A re-assessment of the valuation of other investments will be undertaken as may be required from time to time by the directors or shareholders.

WGN\_DOCS-#888868-V1 PAGE 25 OF 25